International Development



Working paper Series 2014

No.14-156

Why Settle for Less? An Analysis of Settlement in WTO Disputes

Jillian Feirson

Published: April 2014

Department of International Development

London School of Economics and Political Science

Houghton Street Tel: +44 (020) 7955 7425/6252

London Email: destin@lse.ac.uk

WC2A 2AE UK Web site: www.lse.ac.uk/depts/ID

Abstract

This paper examines the negotiated settlement of disputes in the WTO according to the trade agreement in question and the terms of settlement. It argues that vague provisions in the disputed agreement can produce settlements that are incongruent with Members' original commitments. The risks of settlement may be amplified where disputants face power and capacity constraints to successful use of the DSM. Under conditions of legal uncertainty and power asymmetry, litigation rather than settlement offers an opportunity for clarity. In knowing the rules, Members can pursue development policies with confidence, reinforcing the security and predictability of the world trade system.

page 3 of 45

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Introduction	4
I. Evaluating the DSM	6
I.1 Security and Predictability of the System	
I.2 Power and Capacity Constraints	
I.3 Deconstructing Settlement	
The Centrality of Consultations	10
Factors Contributing to Settlement	11
The Value of Legal Interpretation	
The Risks of Settlement	
I.4 Conclusion	15
II. An Analysis of Settlement in the DSM	16
II.1 Methodology	16
II.2 Limitations	
II.3 Rates of Settlement by Annexed Agreement	20
II.4 Settlement on Whose Terms?	
II.5 High Rates of Settlement and the TRIPS Agreement	
II.6 A Case Study of Brazil-Patent Protection	
II.7 Conclusion	28
III. Policy Implications	29
III.1 Litigation Strategies	
III.2 Institutional Reform.	
III.3 Conclusion	30
Conclusion	31
References	32
Appendix I	39
Appendix II	40

Introduction

The international trade system has become increasingly legalized with the establishment of the World Trade Organization (WTO). In addition to an expansion in the scope of trade regulation, the WTO has enhanced the enforcement of these rules through an adjudicative Dispute Settlement Mechanism (DSM). Legalization of dispute settlement aims to treat all WTO Members equally before the law, adding security and predictability to the manner in which rules are applied and mitigating the effects of power asymmetries (Abbott, et al, 2000). Previous studies of the DSM demonstrate that despite legalization, developing countries still face power and capacity constraints to effective dispute resolution. These constraints shape the DSM even before the litigation stage, in "pre-trial" negotiations known as consultations. This is particularly relevant given that over half of all disputes are settled in consultations (Busch and Reinhardt, 2000: 160).

During the consultation phase, Members exchange their positions on disputed trade measures in an attempt to reach a negotiated settlement. In fact, the DSM favors negotiated settlement to a litigated resolution (DSU, 1994: Article 3.7). However, the trade agreements of the WTO are not always well defined. Without authoritative legal interpretation by a panel and or the Appellate Body (AB), rights and obligations set forth in ambiguous agreements remain imprecise. In the presence of legal uncertainty, there is a risk that settlements will not conform to the law. These settlements may take the form of resolutions that limit WTO-compatible policies or permit WTO-inconsistent measures. This erosion of policy space is especially significant for developing countries seeking to implement a full range of strategies for catch-up development. The risk that settlement will impede legal clarity is significant for the WTO membership as a whole. However, when vague agreements converge with the power and capacity constraints of developing countries, the risk of unsound settlements in unduly high. Where settlements prevent authoritative legal clarity, they weaken the predictability with which the agreements are applied and the security in knowing the rules of the system. Security and predictability are essential functions of the DSM. The persistence of these types of settlement could undermine the very benefits entailed in legalization of the WTO.

This paper will examine the likelihood of a WTO dispute reaching a negotiated settlement according to the trade agreement cited in the complaint. The purpose of this analysis is to determine whether differing rates of settlement are related to varying degrees of clarity across three types of trade agreements: the multilateral agreements on goods, services, and intellectual property rights. The paper will also examine the terms of these settlements to explore the degree to which settlements conform to the law or are governed by diplomatic factors. This analysis employs a mixed methodology. Descriptive statistics are used to determine the rates of settlement according to each trade agreement. A content analysis of the settlement agreements illustrates on whose terms these cases are settled. The data shows that cases citing the Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS) have the highest rate of settlement, with TRIPS Articles 27, 65, and 70 most frequently invoked in negotiated settlements. The terms of the settlements typically favor the complainant, however there are settlements that appear to favor neither the complainant nor the defendant. The latter may reflect uncertainty about which party would "win" litigation given ambiguities in the treaty text. A case study of Brazil-Patent *Protection* shows that there is uncertainty around the legality of local working requirements and that negotiated settlement has placed procedural restrictions on this potentially permissible policy. In sum, where settlement impedes legal clarity, it impairs the security and predictability of the DSM, a critical function of the system. Settlement under these conditions has less to offer than litigation, not only for the immediate parties to the dispute, but also for the entirety of the WTO.

Section one evaluates the functioning of the DSM and the risks associated with settlement. Section two offers an analysis of settlements in the DSM, with attention to the rates of settlement, the terms of the settlements, and frequently disputed provisions. Additionally, this analysis includes a case study *Brazil-Patent Protection* and the uncertainty surrounding local working requirements. In light of the risks associated with settlement, section three suggests litigation strategies for developing countries and proposals for DSM reform. Section four concludes this study.

I. Evaluating the DSM

The DSM settles trade disputes between Members and brings security and predictability to the world trade system (Jackson, 2004: 117). Although developing countries face power and capacity constraints to using the DSM, the legalized system offers the advantage of knowing the rules of trade and having confidence in the way the rules are applied. However, the bulk of WTO disputes are settled before they reach the legalistic phases of dispute settlement. The risk that settlements may contradict WTO agreements or reflect power asymmetries, serves to undermine the very value of a legalized DSM.

I.1 Security and Predictability of the System

The DSM is designed to resolve trade disputes between Members of the WTO. When a country issues a complaint against another for the violation of a trade agreement, the disputants first enter into negotiations known as consultations (DSU, 1994: Article 4). Consultations, both bilateral and plurilateral, are confidential (DSU, 1994: Article 4.11). After 60 days of negotiations, the complainant may request the establishment of a panel; a board of third party officials who adjudicate the case. However, consultations can continue in tandem with later stages of litigation, offering the potential for negotiated settlement throughout the process. Settlements arise from consultations in the form of a mutually agreed solution (MAS) or the withdrawal of a dispute (Lester, et al, 2012). Parties must notify the WTO of a MAS, but in practice many cases linger in consultations, abandoned or settled without notification (DSU, 1994: Article 3.6; Reynolds, 2007:192-193). Even when settlements are notified they vary in detail, leaving the terms of some settlements unclear. Consultations are little more than "bargaining in the shadow of the law," and remain a diplomatic step in what has become an increasingly legalized process (Bononcini, 1998: 206-207; Busch and Reinhardt, 2000; Steinberg, 2002). The lack of transparency in "out-of-court" settlements means that even when they succeed in resolving the immediate dispute, they often fail to provide security and predictability to the system.

The language of the Dispute Settlement Understanding (DSU), which outlines the rules and procedures of the DSM, gives clear priority to negotiated settlement (DSU, 1994: Article 3.7). However, dispute resolution is not the only goal of the DSM. The DSU states that the process is designed to bring "security and predictability" to multilateral

trade (DSU, 1994: Article 3.2). Security and predictability come from knowing the rules of the system and the manner in which they will be applied. Clear rules allow Members to pursue a range of economic policies without fear of retaliation from trade partners. Confidence in the rules bolsters stability of the system. Nevertheless, scholars still debate whether the primary objective of the DSM is "to solve the instant dispute" or "to promote certain longer term systemic goals such as predictability and stability in interpretations of treaty text" (Jackson, 1997:134). Carmody (2011) suggests that there is a duty to settle in the WTO and even litigation emphasizes cooperation over adversalism (170). Pauwelyn (2003) laments "the dwindling number of settlements as a result of the legalization of the panel process" and advocates greater opportunities for negotiated settlement (139-140). Alilovic (2000) argues that when it comes to dispute settlement "litigation ranks a poor second to an agreement reached through consultation" (284). Theses scholars echo the DSU in favoring settlement to litigation. However, an unqualified preference for negotiated settlement fails to consider the nature of such settlements and the systemic gains from litigation.

In regard to the nature of settlements, there is no monitoring or enforcement mechanism to ensure that settlement agreements are implemented or that the settlements are in conformity with WTO law. In practice, differing interpretations of the settlement agreement can contribute to inadequate implementation of the settlement by one or both parties (Baroncini, 1998: 219). Although settlements are required to conform to WTO law, the limited transparency of the consultation phase makes it difficult to enforce their WTO-compatibility (DSU, 1994: Article 3.5). The absence of legal interpretation by a panel or the AB, adds difficulty in determining whether settlements are truly consistent with WTO agreements. In the absence of third party adjudication, disputants have an incentive to interpret the legal texts in their favor. Horlick and Coleman (2007) cite *US-Lumber* and *US-Steel Bars* as examples of "sleazy settlements" which only create the illusion of compliance (146). Both settlements that allow illegal trade measures and those that prevent permissible policies diminish confidence in the way trade rules are applied.

In addition to the risk of settlements that skirt the law, are settlements that impede legal clarity. Alsohner (2013) calls these "bilateral solutions in a multilateral system" because they limit informational gains to the immediate disputants (3). Third parties typically benefit from litigation given the precedent setting effect of a panel or AB ruling,

which serves to clarify WTO rules (Jackson, 1997: 137). Developing countries in particular benefit from "legal band-wagoning," a low-cost strategy in which Members join a case as a co-complainant or third party in hopes of reaping the rewards of litigation (Davis, 2006b: 225). Conversely, concessions are usually limited to the immediate parties in negotiated settlements (Agius, 2012: 145). There is a risk that a bilateral solution will reach an inaccurate interpretation of a trade agreement and limit a Member's policy space beyond their initial commitments. Incomplete or imprecise agreements will undoubtedly lead to a proliferation of future disputes. However, the clarification of WTO law can be achieved through litigation and legal interpretation. With greater legal clarity, Members can better predict the manner in which the law will be applied and feel more secure in pursuing trade strategies. While the immediate resolution of disputes remains the stated aim of the DSM, security and predictability are of the upmost importance for stability and success of the WTO.

I.2 Power and Capacity Constraints

Developing countries' use of the DSM is on the rise (Francois, Horn and Kaunitz, 2010: 29; Leitner and Lester, 2006: 222). Complaints by developing countries first outnumbered those of developed countries in 2000, and developing countries "win" panel and AB rulings at a similar rate to developed countries (Park and Panizzon, 2002: 227; Busch and Reinhardt, 2002). Nevertheless, developing countries' face "constraints of law, money and politics" to successful use of the DSM (Shaffer, 2006: 177). Power constraints, or the inability of politically weak countries to file complaints for fear of retaliation, have little effect in practice, but capacity constraints, or the "lack of financial, human, or institutional capital," have a strong effect on developing country participation (Guzman and Simons, 2005: 557-558). Capacity constraints include an inability to retaliate or induce compliance, limited financial resources to pursue litigation, and limited legal expertise.

With regard to retaliation, smaller, poorer countries lack the capacity to implement countermeasures that have a significant effect on large economies. Consequently, for developing countries, retaliation is a poor tool to enforce compliance (Dam, 1970: 368). Blonigen and Bown (2001) show that a limited ability to retaliate may even make developing countries the target of WTO inconsistent policies (21). Furthermore, the evidence suggests that a Members' ability to retaliate influences its decision to implement

WTO consistent policies (Bown, 2004c: 288; Bown, 2002: 314). In cases where an industry has the capacity to retaliate independently, trade disputes may side step the DSM altogether (Bown, 2005b: 551-552). However, scholars differ in their perspectives over whether weakness in retaliatory capacity deters developing countries from using the system. Horn, et al (1999) find that retaliation constraints and legal capacity matter, but it is relative market size, diversity and the value of trade that best explain differential use of the DSM (26). On the other hand, Bown (2004b) suggests that "successful economic resolution of disputes is influenced by a concern for retaliation," which may deter initial participation (822). Bown (2004a) further argues that developing countries have recognized the central role retaliation plays in the DSM and are now strategically selecting cases based on defendants who are susceptible to retaliation threats (61). This strategy is fundamentally linked to another limitation on developing country participation, financial constraints.

Litigation is more expensive for developing countries in both relative and absolute terms, reflecting costs as a proportion of GDP and the economies of scale profiting repeat players (Shaffer, 2006: 186). The inability of smaller economies to enforce the outcome of litigation, even with the potential for a favorable ruling, may outweigh the cost of adjudication altogether (Dam, 1970: 368; Bown, 2005b: 551). Some developing countries have managed to become repeat players in the system, which has lowered the relative costs of litigation and reduced the third constraint on developing countries; legal capacity (Santos, 2012).

According to the Trade and Development Centre, developing countries are "less sophisticated buyers of legal advice" (Busch and Reinhardt, 2000: 172). They lack the inhouse legal expertise to identify breaches of WTO law and to successfully litigate cases (Shaffer 2006: 177). Busch, Reinhardt and Shaffer (2009) argue that legal capacity is the main constraint for developing countries in the DSM (576). The Advisory Centre on WTO Law (ACWL) attempts to ameliorate this issue by offering low cost legal advice to developing countries (ACWL, 1999). Financial and legal resources can often be made available to developing countries if significant commercial interests are at stake. However, it is possible that "the aims of government and industry diverge, with one opting for a settlement where the [trade] barrier is addressed while the other insists on the advantages of a legal ruling" (Abbott, 2007: 15). There is a natural inclination towards

settlement if the disputed barrier is removed. However, as Horn, et al (1999) explain, "today it can be very difficult, even for legal experts, to evaluate whether a trade or trade-related measure is actually a breach of the WTO Agreement, and if so whether other international laws take precedence" (14). If this is the case, Members lacking quality legal expertise may be persuaded to settle and alter or remove a contested trade policy that is legally permissible. In this manner, legal ambiguity is amplified by power and capacity constraints, with the potential to erode policy space for developing countries.

I.3 Deconstructing Settlement

The study of settlements is essential to evaluating the DSM because a majority of cases are concluded in consultations. Thus far, no one variable can fully explain the likelihood of settlement. However, the trade agreement in dispute may serve as an explanatory variable, with more ambiguous agreements raising the prospect of settlement. The settlement of disputes citing vague agreements only impedes valuable legal interpretation. Without legal clarity, settlement risks perpetuating confusion over the rules of trade, disadvantaging less powerful actors and undermining stability of the WTO at large.

The Centrality of Consultations

Consultations are important because "parties exchange information, assess the strengths and weaknesses of their respective cases, narrow the scope of the differences between them and, in many cases, reach a mutually agreed solution" (*Mexico-Corn Syrup*, 2001: paragraph 54). The relevance of consultations is amplified by the fact that over half of all WTO disputes never reach the panel stage (Busch and Reinhardt, 2000: 160). The majority of complaints are settled, withdrawn, or left pending in consultations. Even when a panel is established, consultations can remain ongoing, with three-fifths of all disputes resolved before a panel decision (Busch and Reinhardt, 2000: 158). "Settlement and the withdrawal of cases are thus the norm, not the exception" (Busch and Reinhardt, 2000: 161). Nevertheless, the majority of the empirical analyses on the DSM focus on constraints to participation and enforcement of panel and AB rulings (Bagwell and Staiger, 2004; Bown, 2005a; Davis and Bermeo, 2009; Holmes et al, 2003; Mavroidis, 2000;

Mattoo and Subramanian, 2004; Lacarte-Muro and Gappah, 2000). However, the volume of activity in consultations necessitates further analysis of negotiated settlements.¹

Factors Contributing to Settlement

A Members' political and economic strength alone cannot predict the likelihood of settlement. Parlin (2000) finds that "no one category of dispute- developed versus developed Member, developed versus developing Member, developing versus developed Member, or developing versus developing Member- appears to have a markedly different rate of settlement" (569). The fact that settlement by a developing country respondent is not significantly more likely than by a developed country respondent indicates that lack of resources and economic power are not wholly explanatory in a Member's decision to settle. The political science literature examines regime type on the likelihood of settlement. Pairs of highly democratic states are more likely to settle than non-democratic pairs, making the greatest concessions in the consultation phase (Guzman and Simmons, 2002: S222-S224; Busch and Reinhardt, 2000: 168-172; Busch, 2000: 422). It is suggested that confidentiality of consultations allows for greater leeway in negotiations, while transparency in panel proceedings can illicit pressures from domestic constituencies, which is especially relevant for democracies. Drawing similar conclusions about the role of transparency on transaction costs, Guzman and Simmons (2005) hypothesize that disputes over continuous policy variables, such as tariffs or quotas, are more likely to be settled than those over discontinuous policy variables, such as health regulations or intellectual property rights. However, the evidence does not support such a straightforward correlation (Guzman and Simmons, 2005: S213-S216). Others suggest that third party participation influences the likelihood of settlement and judicial economy by opening negotiations to a wider range of interests and increasing bargaining costs (Busch and Reinhardt, 2006: 448; Stasavage, 2004: 682, Busch and Pelc, 2010: 257). However, recent work by Johns and Pelc (2012) suggests that most Members are not particularly active as third parties, even when a substantial trade interest is at stake (1). Given limited third party participation and the inability of economic power, regime type, or transaction costs to fully explain the likelihood of settlement, other variables must be considered.

¹ For more detail on the consultation phase, see Horlick (1998), Schuchhardt (2005) and Wethington (2000).

The trade agreement under dispute may influence the likelihood of settlement based on the clarity of the legal text. Different types of trade agreements are invoked with varying degrees of frequency by developed and developing countries. Horn and Mavroidis (2003) find that G3 countries are the main complainants of TRIPS and TRIMS (Agreement on Trade-Related Investment Measures) violations, while developing countries are the net complainants in every WTO agreement other than TRIPS, TRIMS and Customs Valuation (16). These findings and the differences in clarity across WTO agreements, make the agreement in dispute a useful variable for exploring settlement.

I predict that disputes citing traditional trade issues, such as trade in goods agreements, are less likely to reach negotiated settlement than cases citing newer trade issues, such as services and intellectual property rights. Although the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) from 1994 is not identical to GATT 1947, regulation of trade in goods has a long history and a considerable amount of case law offering legal clarity. Consequently, Members are less likely to initiate a losing complaint on traditional trade issues and thus, less likely to settle when they do forward a complaint. On the other hand, the newer trade issues have limited case law and Members may be uncertain of their rights and obligations under these agreements. Given uncertainty about the rules, both complainants and respondents will be more likely to settle in order to avoid a potentially unfavorable precedent setting decision. Under these new trade agreements, a complainant may allege a trade violation, but in consultations become less certain that their complaint will be successful. Without precedent to inform their litigation strategy, parties in this situation may settle for less than they could actually gain with a panel or AB ruling. It is in this manner that legal clarity, plays a critical role in the probability and nature of settlement.

The Value of Legal Interpretation

The WTO agreements limit the range of policies permitted for development, but nevertheless benefit developing countries by laying out the rules of the world trade system to provide predictability amid power asymmetries (Shadlen, 2009: 6). However, ambiguities in the rules themselves inhibit their predictability function. Only authoritative

legal interpretation can clarify the rules in support of security and predictability of the system.²

The WTO agreements are not uniformly clear in outlining Members' commitments and disputes arise over genuine differences in interpretation (Schwartz and Sykes, 2002: S201; Ginsburg, 2005: 28). As Horn and Mavroidis (2006) explain:

"There will be a very large number of measures that fall in a grey zone between what is clearly allowed and what is clearly illegal. The decision of where to draw the boundary cannot be done with any degree of scientific precision and it would therefore be tempting for the parties to interpret the scope of the agreement with an eye to only their own interests. The potential for this kind of moral hazard problem suggests that adjudication should be compulsory..." (9).

Panel and AB reports ensure that the agreements are interpreted with an eye towards the legal text rather than unilateral interests. These reports both clarify ambiguities and fill gaps in the existing agreements (Goldstein and Steinberg, 2006: 1; Ceva and Fracasso, 2010: 482). Article 3.2 of the DSU (1994) explicitly grants panels and the AB the ability to "clarify the existing provisions." In light of the prevailing ambiguities, this sort of textual clarification is essential.³

Legal interpretation in the WTO also sets precedent.⁴ According to Bhala (1999), the AB practices de facto *stare decisis* because AB rulings apply to the resolution of future disputes. In fact, nearly all panel and AB reports cite previous cases in their chain of legal reasoning (Bhala, 1999: 8-9). However, the practice of setting precedent requires transparency and thus cannot emerge from settlement in consultations (Bhala, 1999: 7). There are concerns that the AB has been overly "activist" in making precedent setting decisions (Bronkers, 1999: 547; Barfield, 2001: 411; Raustiala, 2000: 406-407; Ragosta, et al, 2003: 698; Greenwald, 2003: 123). The Chair of the Senate Finance Committee, US Sen Max Baucus has said that WTO panels are "making up rules that the US never

² In addition to legal interpretation, WTO declarations, such as the Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health (Doha Declaration), have been used in special cases to clarify permissible policies.

³ Some scholars argue that treaty ambiguity is intentional, because it allows parties to reach an agreement that more detailed provisions prohibit (Farber, 2002; Greenwald and Fox, 2007). Still others suggest that if WTO law is too stringent, Members may seek to resolve their disputes elsewhere (Porges 2002: 531; Davis, 2006a: 37-38). Pauwelyn (2006) elaborates on this debate, arguing for a balance between flexibility and enforcement in international law.

⁴ Precedent does not have to be strictly binding nor simply persuasive, but allows for the "acceptance of previous decisions with a continuing potential for variation" (Fischer-Lescano and Teubner, 2004: 1044).

negotiated, that Congress never approved, and I suspect, that Congress would never approve" (*Bridges Weekly*, 2002). However, most scholars note that fears of judicial lawmaking by the AB are overblown and that both panel and AB rulings are soundly based on the underlying agreements (Bartels, 2004: 894; Esserman and Howse, 2003:133; Hudec, 2002: 212; Steger, 2002a: 567; Steger, 2004b: 495). In practice, the use of precedent may be the only way to apply the covered agreements in a fair and consistent manner (Bhala, 1999: 150; Gerhart and Kella, 2005: 564-565).⁵

The clarity of the policy options and constraints that comes with legal precedent is a substantial benefit for Members striving for development. As Bhala (2001) writes:

"...In any game, better rules can make for better games and, one hopes, better outcomes. The doctrine [of *stare decisis*] has the potential to provide a better playing field on which to play the game of trade, better in the sense of knowing the terrain and having confidence in it and, therefore, being more willing and able to run hard and fast. To change metaphors, while not necessary, and certainly not sufficient, the doctrine can be an important ingredient in the recipe for trade growth and development" (937).

Agius (2012) advances this argument, suggesting, "regular interpretive operations could fill the language of the law with more development-friendly content" (155). As negotiations in the Doha Round remain stalled, judicial lawmaking seems to offer a new process of trade law development (Goldstein and Steinberg, 2006:12). However, even for those who oppose a judiciary that fills the gaps within the law, clarifying the current agreements is a necessary part of the DSM. In making successive legal interpretations, the DSM draws on a system of precedent. The use of precedent strengthens the rule of law and increases predictability of the system.

The Risks of Settlement

Settlement carries the risk of allowing power asymmetries between parties to govern dispute resolution and of impeding public clarification of the law. Many scholars have argued against settlement within a domestic legal context (Fiss, 1984; Delgado, et al., 1985; Luban, 1995; McMunigal, 1990; Yeazell, 1994). Fiss (1984) addresses the fallacy that settlement is simply a function of disputants' predictions about the outcome of litigation. He explains that settlement is a function of the resources available to each

⁵ For a review of judicial lawmaking in the WTO see Steinberg (2004)

party, the legal expertise to accurately predict the outcome of litigation, and the costs inherent in litigation (1076). This holds true in the WTO where developing countries' relative lack of resources suggest that they may not be able to accurately predict the outcome or afford the costs of litigation, making them more willing to accept a settlement that has less to offer than panel or AB decision.

Additionally, settlements may lead to an "erosion of the public realm," by failing to clarify rules or set precedent (Luban, 1995: 2622). Moffitt (2009) argues that there is "such a proliferation of written judicial opinions that one is almost certain to find at least some support for almost any legal proposition" (2009: 1208). However, this is not the situation in the WTO, where the case law, though extensive for an international adjudicative body, is nevertheless limited. Transition periods for developing countries to implement certain WTO provisions have only recently expired and the case law on those provisions is particularly sparse. In situations where there is a lack of precedent, "settlement is likely to be based on the uncertainty of knowing the legal result" (Menkel-Meadow, 1995: 2680-2681). A proliferation of settlements in this context will only serve to entrench the problem, as it will inhibit authoritative legal interpretation. To be clear, this is not an argument against settlement at large. Under the right conditions, settlement can be valuable tool for cooperative dispute resolution. Although under conditions of legal ambiguity and power asymmetry, settlement carries the risk of impeding clarification of the law, allowing power relations to dominate the terms of the settlement, and destabilizing the DSM.

I.4 Conclusion

The security and predictability of the DSM relies on legal interpretation and precedent to clarify rules and outline permissible policies. When settlements are made in consultations, they inhibit authoritative legal interpretation, with the potential to entrench illegal trade measures and block legal policies. This carries risk for all Members, but especially for developing countries for which the security and predictability of the system helps mitigate the effects of power asymmetries. Furthermore, developing countries' power and capacity constraints within the DSM place them at a greater risk of accepting settlements that erode policy space. An analysis of settlements in consultations will illustrate whether persistent ambiguities in the legal texts are a fundamental problem for the DSM.

II. An Analysis of Settlement in the DSM

This section explores patterns of settlement in the DSM according to the agreements in dispute. Descriptive statistics indicate that disputes under the TRIPS Agreement have the highest rate of settlement, with General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS) following closely behind. Content analysis demonstrates that most settlements favor the complainant, but the terms of many settlements remain unclear. A qualitative review of the cases settled under TRIPS shows that Articles 27, 65, and 70 are cited with relative frequency. A case study of *Brazil-Patent Protection* indicates that these indeterminate settlements and the high rate of settlement under TRIPS may be linked to ambiguities in the treaty text.

II.1 Methodology

This analysis employs a mixed methodology of descriptive statistics, content analysis, qualitative review and case study. For the purposes of this study, settlement refers specifically to the negotiated resolution of disputes in the consultation phase. This study includes all DSM cases since the creation of the WTO though case DS462, with the exclusion of four cases that only cite the plurilateral Agreement on Government Procurement (DS73, DS88, DS95, and DS163). In an effort to assess whether varying degrees of legal clarity across the trade agreements influence the likelihood of settlement, the agreements are broken into three broad categories: multilateral agreements on trade in goods, services, and intellectual property rights. These agreements are embodied in Annex 1A, 1B, and 1C to the Agreement Establishing the WTO (WTO Agreement). Annex 1A covers the multilateral agreements on trade in goods, while Annex 1B, or GATS, covers services and Annex 1C, or TRIPS, covers intellectual property rights. Annex 2 and 3 are not included in this study as they are largely procedural rather than substantive agreements. Annex 4 agreements are also excluded because they do not include all WTO members (WTO Agreement, 1994: Article 2.3). Traditionally, complaints by multiple disputants regarding the same trade measure are aggregated, but for this study they are counted individually, since each Member may reach a separate settlement with the respondent (Busch and Reinhardt, 2002). All data for this analysis has been retrieved from WTO documents and specific references can be found in Appendix II.

The rates of settlement as shown in Table 1 are based on descriptive statistics. The number of disputes settled which cite Annex 1A are taken as a percentage of all disputes that cite agreements under Annex 1A. The same calculation is made for Annex 1B and 1C. If a case cites agreements under two of the relevant annexes, it is included in the calculation for both annexes. There are no cases that cite agreements under all three annexes.

The terms of settlement found in Tables 2-4 are estimated using content analysis. I review the settlement agreement for every case resolved in consultations and employ an objective coding scheme to place the settlement in one of three categories: settlements that favor the complainant, settlements that favor the respondent, and other settlements. Cases in which the disputed measure or measures were removed, altered, or new legislation was proposed to bring the measure into conformity, are coded in favor of the complainant. This applies to cases in which a MAS specifies that the respondent will make changes to the contested measure. This category also applies to cases in which the respondent independently brought the disputed measure into conformity and the complainant has withdrawn the case. Cases are coded in favor of the respondent if the complaint was withdrawn or terminated with no apparent changes to the contested measure, if a MAS was reached that does not indicate any changes on the part of the respondent, or if the authority of the panel or consultations have lapsed and the case is recorded as terminated. The final category includes cases in which the settlement appears to genuinely favor both parties or the terms of the settlement are unclear. This category, labeled "other", includes any MAS in which both parties make alterations to existing measures or in which the respondent is required to change some, but not all, of the contested measures. Cases in which a MAS is recorded, but no details are given are also coded as "other". Any MAS that creates a new bilateral or plurilateral agreement or involves continuous negotiations as a central tenant of the settlement are also placed in the "other" category. Finally, cases that are terminated to continue dispute resolution in an alternate venue are also classified as "other."

Given that the TRIPS agreement is found to have the highest rate of settlement, Table 5 employs a qualitative review of the complaint for every case settled under TRIPS to find the specific articles cited in the complaint. Despite their similarly high rate of settlement, TRIPS rather than GATS cases are selected for further analysis. This selection is based on the fact that GATS commitments are not prescriptive, each Member can

choose its own level of commitments made under GATS (GATS, 1994: Article 20). The TRIPS Agreement on the other hand, applies to all Members in equal measure (excluding the transitional periods afforded to developing countries). Therefore, a review of the specific articles repeatedly cited in TRIPS settlements offers a better indicator of whether Members have divergent interpretations of the commitments entailed in the agreement.

Finally, *Brazil-Patent Protection* is examined as a case study to determine whether the settlement in this instance was based soundly on WTO law or legal ambiguity. This case is selected because it cites the TRIPS Agreement, which has the highest rate of settlement. The case study is intended to investigate what underlies the likelihood of settlement in TRIPS disputes. Furthermore, the terms of this settlement require ongoing consultations between the disputants, favoring neither the complainant nor the respondent. Cases of this nature are of particular interest since the complainant did not achieve all its demands in consultations, but still chose a MAS rather than litigation. Consequently, this case should illuminate the factors that encourage Members to settle despite the possibility of "winning" a panel or AB ruling. Finally, as the most recent settlement of this nature citing TRIPS Article 27, any ambiguity that exists in the law should be exhibited in this case. This case study cannot, and does not, aim to represent all WTO disputes. However, it does indicate whether settlements may be influenced by legal ambiguity and power asymmetry.

II.2 Limitations

The limitations to this study are typical of any investigation involving descriptive statistics, content analysis, or case study. Descriptive statistics fail to account for underlying differences between the variables in discussion. In this case, the rate of settlement does not account for differences in economic structure, political power, market size, or frequency in use of the DSM among the disputants. Additionally, the categories of Annex 1A, 1B, and 1C are not entirely equal, as 1A includes multiple trade agreements while 1B and 1C are simply GATS and TRIPS respectively. However, a more granular look at the rates of settlement under Annex 1A, shows that the rates of settlement do not change substantially. Aside from the Agreement in Import Licensing, which has a settlement rate of 44%, the other multilateral agreements on trade in goods have comparatively low rates of settlement with Agriculture at 23%, Sanitary and Phytosanitary

Measures at 28%, Technical Barriers to Trade at 28%, TRIMS at 16%, Rules of Origin at 29%, Subsidies and Countervailing Measures at 5% and Safeguards at 7%. To date, no complaints have invoked the Agreement on Pre-shipment Inspection. Despite the weaknesses inherent in descriptive statistics and the slight variation across the agreements on trade in goods, the literature and a more nuanced assessment of Annex 1A indicate that the results are still relevant.

Even with an objective coding scheme, the risk of subjectivity is intrinsic to content analysis. Furthermore, cases are only considered settled if the WTO officially reports their current status as "settled or terminated (withdrawn, mutually agreed solution)" (Dispute Settlement, 2013). This method may exclude cases that have been settled but appear to have been abandoned, if the settlements have not been officially reported to the WTO (Reynolds, 2009). Finally, the bargain outlined in the settlement agreement, no matter how detailed, may never actually be implemented. There is no way to determine whether the settlement agreements have been fulfilled other than an independent review of every Members' trade policy. Therefore the terms of the settlement in the content analysis do not always reflect the genuine terms of the settlement upon implementation.

In regards to the high rate of settlement under TRIPS and the frequency with which certain Articles are invoked, the settlement agreement does not always address all articles cited in the complaint. Though uncommon, some cases address provisions in the settlement agreement that were not originally invoked in the complaint.

Finally, as a single case study, *Brazil-Patent Protection* cannot be representative of all WTO disputes nor indicate systemic trends. Even among developing country participants, Brazil is an anomaly as a repeat player in the DSM with relatively strong legal capacity (Santos, 2012). Nevertheless, "in-depth knowledge of a single case [can] help us to understand and act more intelligently in other potentially different cases" (Donmoyer, 2000: 54). Furthermore, if legal ambiguity compels Brazil to accept an unsound settlement, then the risk should be present, if not greater, for the least developed countries. ⁶

⁶ Donmoyer (2000), Flyybjerg (2006) and George and Bennett (2005) outline the merits of a single case study.

II.3 Rates of Settlement by Annexed Agreement

Table 1
Rate of Settlement According to the Annexed Agreements

Covered Agreements	Total Number of Cases	Cases Settled in Consultations	Rate of Settlement in Consultations
Annex 1A	429	76	18%
Annex 1B (GATS)	22	9	41%
Annex 1C (TRIPS)	32	14	44%

Table 1 indicates that disputes involving trade in goods are less likely to be settled than disputes involving GATS or TRIPS. In understanding what lies behind these differing rates of settlement, it is important to consider on whose terms these settlements are negotiated. Do settlements favor the complainant or the respondent? Are the terms of the settlement straightforward or unclear? And ultimately, do the settlements appear to reflect the rule of law or a power-based bargain? The following section will advance this analysis and assess the terms of each settlement.

II.4 Settlement on Whose Terms?

Table 2
Settlements Citing Annex 1A

Settlements Citing Annex 1A					
Case Information		Terms of the Settlement			
Case			Favors	Favors	
Number	Complainant	Respondent	Complainant	Respondent	Other
DS391	Canada	Korea	X		
DS374	Indonesia	South Africa	X		
DS364	Panama	EC			X
DS361	Colombia	EC			X
DS359	Mexico	China			X
DS358	US	China			X
DS354	EC	Canada	X		
DS348	Panama	Colombia	X		
DS344	Mexico	US	X		
DS329	Mexico	Panama	X		
DS327	Pakistan	Egypt			X
DS326	Chile	EC	X		
DS323	Korea	Japan			X
DS313	India	EC	X		
DS311	Canada	US			X
DS309	US	China	X		
DS306	Bangladesh	India	X		
DS305	US	Egypt	X		
DS298	Guatemala	Mexico			X
DS297	Hungary	Croatia			X
DS293	Argentina	EC			X

Table 2 Continued

Case		Table 2 Collin	Favors	Favors	
Number	Complainant	Respondent	Complainant		Other
DS292	Canada	EC	F	1.01	X
DS287	EC	Australia			X
DS284	Nicaragua	Mexico			X
DS281	Mexico	US			X
DS261	Chile	Uruguay		X	
DS255	Chile	Peru	X		
DS250	Brazil	US	X		
DS247	Canada	US			X
DS240	Hungary	Romania	X		
DS237	Ecuador	Turkey	X		
		Slovak			
DS235	Poland	Republic			X
DS232	Chile	Mexico			X
DS228	Colombia	Chile		X	
DS227	Chile	Peru	X		
DS210	US	Belgium	X		
DS199	US	Brazil			X
DS198	US	Romania	X		
DS193	EC	Chile			X
DS190	Brazil	Argentina	X		
DS181	Thailand	Colombia	X		
	Guatemala,				
	Honduras, US,				
DS158	Panama, Mexico	EC			X
DS151	EC	US	X		
DS119	Switzerland	Australia	X		
DS106	US	Australia	X		
DS105	Panama	EC			X
DS102	US	Philippines	X		
DS96	EC	India	X		
DS94	Switzerland	India	X		
DS93	New Zealand	India	X		
DS92	Canada	India	X		
DS91	Australia	India	X		
DS89	Korea	US	X		
DS85	EC	US			X
DS77	EC	Argentina		X	
DS74	US	Philippines	X		
DS72	New Zealand	EC	X		
DS43	US	Turkey	X		
DS40	EC	Korea			X
DS39	EC	US		X	
DS38	EC	US		X	
	Australia, Thailand,				
	Argentina, Canada,				
DS35	New Zealand, US	Hungary			X

Table 2 Continued

Case			Favors	Favors	
Number	Complainant Respondent Complain		Complainant	Respondent	Other
DS32	India	US	X		
	Ecuador, Mexico,				
	Guatemala,				
DS27	Honduras, US	EC			X
DS23	Mexico	Venezuela	X		
DS21	US	Australia	X		
DS20	Canada	Korea	X		
DS19	India	Poland	X		
	Guatemala, US,				
DS16	Honduras, Mexico	EC			X
DS14	Chile	EC	X		
DS13	US	EC	X		
DS12	Peru	EC	X		
DS7	Canada	EC	X		
DS6	Japan	US		X	
DS5	US	Korea	X		
DS1	Singapore	Malaysia	X		
		Totals	44	6	26

Table 3
Settlements Citing Annex 1B (GATS)

Case Information		Terms of the Settlement			
Case			Favors	Favors	
Number	Complainant	Respondent	Complainant	Respondent	Other
DS378	Canada	China	X		
DS373	US	China	X		
DS372	EC	China	X		
DS309	US	China	X		
DS237	Ecuador	Turkey	X		
DS105	Panama	EC			X
DS38	EC	US		X	
	Ecuador,				
	Guatemala,				
	Honduras,				
DS27	Mexico, US	EC			X
	Guatemala,				
	Honduras,				
DS16	Mexico, US	EC			X
		Totals	5	1	3

Table 4
Settlements Citing Annex 1C (TRIPS)

Case Information		Terms of the Settlement				
Case			Favors	Favors		
Number	Complainant	Respondent	Complainant	Respondent	Other	
DS 372	EC	China	X			
DS 199	US	Brazil			X	
DS 196	US	Argentina			X	
DS 171	US	Argentina			X	
DS 125	US	Greece	X			
DS 124	US	EC	X			
DS 115	US	EC	X			
DS 86	US	Sweden	X			
DS 83	US	Denmark	X			
DS 82	US	Ireland	X			
DS 42	EC	Japan	X			
DS 37	US	Portugal	X			
DS 36	US	Pakistan	X			
DS 28	US	Japan	X			
		Totals	11	0	3	

Tables 2-4 show that the majority of settlements favor the complainant, as is expected if complaints are based on clear WTO violations. In such a scenario, it is likely that the respondent will recognize the violation and bring the contested measure into conformity to avoid a "loss" through litigation. Cases in which the settlements favor the respondents are few, but they may represent a determination, after the exchange of information in consultations, that a litigated outcome would favor the respondent. It is also possible the complainants in this category choose to withdraw cases in order to avoid damaging a political or economic relationship with the respondent. The data shows that the US is a respondent in four out of seven such cases; potentially suggesting that political and economic clout may aid a respondent in reaching a favorable settlement.

The most striking trend lies in Table 4, where either the US or the European Communities (EC) is the complainant in every settlement citing the TRIPS Agreement. Specifically the US is the complainant in 12 out of 14 cases. It is possible that Table 4 simply represents the role of the US as an intellectual property exporter, explaining its repeat status as a complainant in TRIPS cases. However, in analyzing patterns of settlement in consultations, it is worth noting that out of 17 complaints in which the US has invoked the TRIPS Agreement, it has settled 12 cases in consultations. Thus, not only

is the US a frequent complainant, but it favors negotiated settlement. It is possible that economic and political power play a role, and the US is able achieve its aims of dispute resolution without litigation. However, if that were the case, we would expect to see this trend demonstrated equally across agreements, not solely in cases disputing the TRIPS Agreement. In favoring negotiated settlement, the complainant must expect to achieve a more or equally favorable outcome in consultations relative to litigation. I argue that the vague language of specific provisions of the TRIPS Agreement have contributed to the high rate of settlement under Annex 1C, by making both complainants and respondents uncertain of a litigated outcome and consequently, eager to settle.

II.5 High Rates of Settlement and the TRIPS Agreement

Table 5
Articles Cited in TRIPS Disputes Settled in Consultations

Case	Complainant	Respondent	Settlement on	Articles Cited in the
Number	Сотранин	respondent	Whose Terms?	Complaint
DS 372	EC	China	Complainant	39.2
DS 199	US	Brazil	Other	27, 27.1, 28, 28.1
				27, 28, 31, 34, 39, 50, 62,
DS 196	US	Argentina	Other	65, 70
DS 171	US	Argentina	Other	27, 39.2, 65, 70
DS 125	US	Greece	Complainant	41, 61
DS 124	US	EC	Complainant	41, 61
DS 115	US	EC	Complainant	9-14, 41-48, 65, 70
DS 86	US	Sweden	Complainant	50, 63, 65
DS 83	US	Denmark	Complainant	50, 63, 65
DS 82	US	Ireland	Complainant	9-14, 41-48, 61, 63, 65, 70
DS 42	EC	Japan	Complainant	14.6, 70.2
DS 37	US	Portugal	Complainant	33, 65, 70
DS 36	US	Pakistan	Complainant	27, 65, 70
DS 28	US	Japan	Complainant	3, 4, 14, 61, 65, 70

Table 5 indicates that TRIPS Articles 27, 65, and 70 are cited relatively frequently in cases that have been settled. Article 65 on the Transitional Arrangements is cited in 9 out of 14 cases and Article 70 on the Protection of Existing Subject Matter is cited in 8 out of 14 cases (TRIPS, 1994). Although only cited in 4 of the settled cases, Article 27 on Patentable Subject Matter is cited in all settled cases where the terms of the settlement are indeterminate. Interestingly, the language of Article 27 invokes both Articles 65 and 70:

"Subject to the provisions of paragraphs 2 and 3, patents shall be available for any inventions, whether products or processes, in all fields of

technology, provided that they are new, involve an inventive step and are capable of industrial application. Subject to paragraph 4 of Article 65, paragraph 8 of Article 70 and paragraph 3 of this Article, patents shall be available and patent rights enjoyable without discrimination as to the place of invention, the field of technology and whether products are imported or locally produced." (TRIPS, 1994: Article 27.1)

Paragraph 4 of TRIPS Article 65 grants developing countries an extra 5 years to extend patents rights on areas of technology not previously patentable. Paragraph 8 of TRIPS Article 70 requires, in cases in which patents are not immediately extended to all fields of technology, that applications for patents under these new fields may still be filed. The TRIPS Agreement defines the terms "inventive step" and "capable of industrial production" as "non-obvious" and "useful" respectively (1994: note 5). Nevertheless, there is still a great deal of interpretive space in these provisions. The high rate of settlement under the TRIPS may reflect uncertainty about the policies that are legally permissible, specifically under Article 27.

II.6 A Case Study of Brazil-Patent Protection

In May of 2000, shortly after the expiration of the transitional period for developing countries to adopt remaining TRIPS, the US launched a complaint against Brazil. The complaint challenged Article 68 of Brazil's 1996 Industrial Property Law, which established a local working requirement for patent holders (*Brazil-Patent Protection*, 2000). The law requires patent holders in Brazil to manufacture the patented product domestically or the Brazilian government may issue a compulsory license (CL) granting other producers the right to "work" the patent. The US alleges this is a violation of Article 27 of the TRIPS Agreement.

Read in isolation, TRIPS Article 27 seems to prohibit local working requirements, stating, "patents shall be available and patent rights enjoyable without discrimination as to...whether products are *imported or locally produced*" (1994: Article 27.1). However, TRIPS Articles 30 and 31 outline exceptions to the exclusive rights conferred by a patent and conditions for CLs. In fact the language of Article 31 permits local working requirements by failing to limit the grounds on which a CL can be issued. There is disagreement between Members who consider local working requirements to be prohibited under Article 27 and those that view them as permissible. The US stands strongly with the

former, while Brazil and many developing countries tend towards the latter. The debate stems from whether Articles 30 and 31 can govern Article 27 (Champ and Attaran, 2002: 368; Nowak 2005: 905-913). Here the WTO jurisprudence is unclear. In *Canada-Pharmaceutical Patents*, a panel ruled that it is "acknowledged fact" that Article 27 is absolute and exceptions afforded under Article 30 are still subject to the non-discrimination of production location articulated in Article 27.1 (*Canada-Pharmaceutical Patents*, 2000: paragraph 7.91). In this case, the Panel acknowledged that the treaty text does not explicitly state the dominance of Article 27 over 30 and 31, but nevertheless asserted the supremacy of Article 27 based on popular interpretation (Champ and Attaran, 2002: 368). Later TRIPS adjudication contradicts the legal reasoning by this Panel, namely in its deference to popular belief over treaty text. The AB in *India- Patents (US)* states:

"The legitimate expectations of the parties to a treaty are reflected in the language of the treaty itself. The duty of a treaty interpreter is to examine the words of the treaty to determine the intentions of the parties. This should be done in accordance with the principles of treaty interpretation set out in Article 31 of the Vienna Convention. But these principles of interpretation neither require nor condone the imputation into a treaty of words that are not there or the importation into a treaty of concepts that were not intended." (1997: paragraph 45).

In reference to the intention of the TRIPS Agreement negotiators, it is far from clear that a uniform agreement on local working requirements was ever reached, perhaps explaining the inconclusive language of the final text (Champ and Attaran: 373-380). Some legal scholars have interpreted the explicit incorporation of TRIPS Articles 65.4 and 70.8 into Article 27.1 as an indication that Article 27 is "only subject to the enumerated provisions" (Mercurio and Tayagi, 2010: 287). On the other hand, principles of international law suggest that when general rules and specific rules are in conflict, the specific provisions should take precedence; in this case Article 31 (Champ and Attaran: 367). Until the DSM makes an authoritative legal interpretation⁷, the applicability of Articles 30 and 31 as exceptions to Article 27 will remain unknown.

Other interpretations that favor the legality of local working requirements feature the Paris Convention. The incorporation of the Paris Convention into the TRIPS Agreement under Article 2.2 is cited as a defense of local working requirements (Mercurio

⁷ The interpretations issued in *Canada-Pharmaceutical Patents* and *India-Patents* have built a foundation for understanding Article 27, but not local working requirements in particular.

and Tyagi, 2010: 285; Abbott, 2009: 7; Halewood, 1997: 260; Shanker, 2006: 24-26). Article 5(A)(2) of the Paris Convention outlines "the right to take legislative measures providing for the grant of compulsory licenses to prevent abuses which might result from exercise of exclusive rights conferred by the patent, for example, failure to work." Mercurio and Tyagi (2010) argue that with regard to TRIPS and the Paris Convention "rights have taken on the language of obligations" and thus the rights and obligations of both agreements must be taken "on equal footing" (291). Despite the strength of arguments in favor of local working requirements, until there is an official panel or AB interpretation, the legality of this policy will remain in question (Fischer-Lescano and Teubner, 2004: 1027).

In the MAS on Brazil's Industrial Property Law, Brazil maintained the position that, "Article 68 is fully compatible with the TRIPS Agreement" (2001: 1-2).

Nevertheless, Brazil agreed to a consultative mechanism, whereby they enter into talks with the US before issuing CLs on any US held patents (2001: 2). The US states that it accepted this solution because Brazil had never used Article 68 to issue a compulsory license (2001: 2). However, the nature of compulsory licenses as crucial to the access to essential medicines debate⁸, and the timing of the dispute in congruence with the United Nations AIDS Summit, suggest that politics and public image are at the heart of this MAS (Champ and Attaran, 2002: 381; Mercurio and Tyagi, 2010: 295; Shaffer, Ratton-Sanchez and Rosenberg, 2008: 465-466). As part of the MAS, the US "expect[s] Brazil not to proceed with further dispute settlement action regarding sections 204 and 209 of the US patent law" (2001: 2). In 2001 Brazil launched a counter-complaint alleging the inconsistency of the US Patent Code with the TRIPS Article 27 (US-Patents Code, 2001). However, in accordance with the MAS, the US-Patents Code dispute has been abandoned (Fukunaga, 2008: 884).

What is troubling about this case is that "it demonstrates how a MAS can be used to tacitly agree on a non-exercise of rights amounting to a *de facto* acceptance of a violation" (Alshner, 2012: 42). The US benefits from the MAS by retaining its position on

⁸ CLs provide a route to low-cost medicines and Brazil has been particularly successful in utilizing this policy to combat its AIDS epidemic. For more information on the access to essential medicines debate, see Sell (2002) and Shadlen (2004).

⁹ US- Patents Code is not recorded as settled; therefore it is considered abandoned and not included in this study's statistical analysis of TRIPS settlements.

the illegality of local working requirements, deflecting a counter-complaint, and maintaining an image sympathetic to the fight against AIDS. Brazil benefits from the MAS in that it did not have to bear the costs of further litigation nor alter its stance on the legality of local working requirements. However, for Brazil there is the possibility that greater gains could have emerged through litigation if Article 68 of the Industrial Property Law had been ruled as TRIPS compliant. Brazil may have weighed the potential political costs of continuing the dispute to be too great, favoring negotiated settlement. However, it is certain that the system as a whole would have achieved more from litigation. Through litigation, other Members would finally know, with a degree of certainty, whether local working requirements are permissible and whether they would risk a trade dispute by implementing such policies. In the absence of litigation, a future conflict on this issue "seems almost inevitable" (Champ and Attaran, 2002: 366).

II.7 Conclusion

The evidence indicates that the likelihood of settlement varies across the covered agreements, with TRIPS disputes most likely to reach a settlement. Furthermore, the settlement agreements do not always clearly favor the complainant or the respondent, suggesting that uncertainty over the legality of certain trade measures may persist, despite the official settlement of a dispute. TRIPS Article 27 is most frequently cited in these indeterminate settlements. An analysis of *Brazil-Patent Protection* indicates that divergent interpretations on the permissibility of local working requirements was critical in inducing settlement, suggesting that legal ambiguity can play a role in settlement at the DSM. This case study does not definitively conclude that power or capacity constraints governed this MAS. Yet, a country with strong legal capacity and little fear of retaliation, may have been more likely to pursue litigation, with the potential to clarify the legal status of local working requirements. Clarity on this provision would benefit the WTO membership by offering a multilateral understanding of the TRIPS Agreement.

III. Policy Implications

Ambiguity in the trade agreements calls for a strategy that favors litigation. Additionally, a settlement review mechanism could shine a light on power and capacity constraints in the consultation phase. The following section will forward these strategies for litigation and reform of the DSM.

III.1 Litigation Strategies

In weighing the costs of litigation, countries must consider the value of precedent. Busch (2007) notes that most countries consider precedent when choosing a forum for dispute resolution. However, this value must be weighed not only by the complainant, but also by the defendant. When the law is unclear, the defendant may have a strong possibility of "winning" a case and reasserting its policy space. Precedent can also prevent repeat complaints over the same policies, a trend which places an undue burden on the DSM. Although litigation is costly and entails its own set of risks, it has more to offer than settlement in cases of legal ambiguity.

Multilateral negotiations at the WTO provide the opportunity to reaffirm policy space, just as the Doha Declaration clarified the permissibility of CLs for access to essential medicines. However, litigation can be complimentary to negotiations in delineating strategies necessary not only for humanitarian development, but also for industrial transformation (Santos, 2012; Shadlen, 2004: 101; Wade, 2003: 626). When negotiations reach deadlock, litigation offers a more feasible strategy for defending development policies. Litigation can build developing countries' bargaining power, where case-by-case victories advance the benchmark in multilateral negotiations (Agius, 2012). Active participation in DSM litigation also allows developing countries to reduce the cost per case by building legal capacity. Despite the risks inherent in litigation, under conditions of legal ambiguity and with essential policies at stake, developing countries should consider the value the litigation over settlement and pursue a "developmental legal strategy" (Santos, 2012).

III.2 Institutional Reform

Proposals for increased transparency within the WTO are popular. However, transparency of negotiations in the consultations stage may hinder the prospects of

settlement, especially for democracies facing demands from domestic constituents (Busch, 2000: 443). Although transparency could prevent WTO-inconsistent settlements, it is important that Members retain the ability to resolve disputes diplomatically, especially in situations such as EC-Hormones or the "Bananas saga", where litigation has failed to produce a resolution (Pauwelyn, 2003: 128). On the other hand, increased transparency could bring attention to the "development dimension of multilateral rules" (Hoekman and Mavroidis, 2000: 538-539). Steinbach (2009) argues for removal of the interim review process at the panel stage, as it could "impede the dispute settlement's evolution towards a more judicial-like procedure" (434). Yet, proposals need to consider "rule of law" in the consultations phase as well. Therefore, I propose a settlement review mechanism, akin to the Trade Policy Review Mechanism (TPRM). The mechanism would require a review of all settlements, within a year of their notification to the DSM. The review would focus on the provision of information ¹⁰ rather than enforcement and issue reports that detail progress on the implementation of settlement agreements and the WTO-compatibility of these settlements. The reports may also make non-authoritative legal interpretation, in order to assist countries in deciding whether to litigate similar trade issues in the future. Given that the TPRM already offers a review of national trade policies, a review of individual settlements is a feasible extension of this operation.

III.3 Conclusion

In pre-panel consultations there is often "not enough law" to ensure that settlements conform to a multilateral understanding of the WTO agreements (Pauwelyn 2003:126). In cases of legal ambiguity, countries should pursue a litigation strategy that reasserts developmental policy space and ensures that dispute resolution is based on rule of law, regardless of any diplomatic bargaining. As Weiler notes, "the persistence of diplomatic practices and habits in the context of a juridical framework might end up undermining the very rule of law and some of the benefits that the new DSU was meant to produce" (2001: 194). A settlement review mechanism would reveal whether those diplomatic practices that persist are nevertheless in line with the overarching legal agreements.

¹⁰ Information provision is a central goal of international organizations and dispute resolution (Kaul, et al, 1999).

Conclusion

Legalization of the WTO is designed to hold all Members accountable to the same rules. In laying out the rules of trade, countries know which policies they can pursue without offending trade partners. It is by knowing the rules of the system and applying them in a consistent manner, that the DSM brings security and predictability to the multilateral trade order. Developing countries benefit in particular from legalization, given that they are more vulnerable to the unpredictability of asymmetric trade relations. However, in order for the benefits of legalization to be realized, trade agreements must be clear. This study demonstrates that ambiguity persists in WTO treaties and can encourage settlement, which only further inhibits clarity of the trade agreements.

Catch-up development entails risk-taking and when the law is ambiguous, the uncertainty of a litigated outcome carries risk (Shadlen, 2013). However, if policies for development are at stake, litigation is a risk developing countries should take. To settle for anything less is to forgo the value of a legalized trading system. Of course, neither litigation nor settlement is a panacea. When a dispute involves the removal of a straightforward trade barrier, settlement may produce the most successful resolution. However, when the permissibility of a trade policy is imprecise, litigation offers the opportunity for clarity. This study alone cannot reveal whether ambiguity in WTO agreements is a systemic problem, but it does demonstrate that legal uncertainty can influence settlement, tantamount to the renegotiation of Members original commitments. These settlements pose a risk for developing countries by limiting the policies available for development. This risk extends to the WTO as a whole, where legal ambiguity can compromise the value of legalization by undermining the security and predictability of the multilateral trading system.

References

- Abbott, F. (2009). *TRIPS Dispute Settlement Decisions* (pp. 1–8). International Centre for Trade and Sustainable Development. Retrieved from http://ictsd.org/downloads/2009/10/abbott_trips_dsu.pdf
- Abbott, K. W., Keohane, R. O., Moravcsik, A., Slaughter, A.-M., & Snidal, D. (2000). The Concept of Legalization. *International Organization*, *54*(3), 401–419.
- Abbott, R. (2007). Are Developing Countries Deterred from Using the WTO Dispute Settlement System? Participation of Developing Countries in the DSM in the years 1995-2005 (ECIPE Working Paper No. No. 01/2007) (pp. 2–20). Brussels: European Centre for International Political Economy. Retrieved from http://www.ecipe.org/media/publication_pdfs/are-developing-countries-deterred-from-using-the-wto-dispute-settlement-system.pdf
- Agius, M. F. (2012). Strategies and Success in Litigation and Negotiation in the WTO. *International Negotiation*, *17*(1), 139–162. doi:10.1163/157180612X630965
- Alilovic, R. (2000). Consultations Under the WTO's Dispute Settlement System. *Dalhousie Journal of Legal Studies*, *9*, 279–301.
- Alschner, W. (2013). Amicable Settlements of WTO Disputes: Bilateral Solutions in a Multilateral System. *World Trade Review*, 1–38. doi:10.1017/S1474745613000165
- Bagwell, K., & Staiger, R. W. (2004). Multilateral trade negotiations, bilateral opportunism and the rules of GATT/WTO. *Journal of International Economics*, 63, 1–29. doi:10.1016/S0022-1996(03)00054-0
- Barfield, C. E. (2001). Free Trade, Sovereignty, Democracy: Future of the World Trade Organization. *Chicago Journal of International Law*, 2(2), 403–415.
- Baroncini, E. (1998). The European Community and the Diplomatic Phase of the WTO Dispute Settlement Understanding. *Yearbook of European Law*, *18*(1), 157–220. doi:10.1093/yel/18.1.157
- Bartels, L. (2004). The Seperation of Judicial Powers in the WTO: How to Avoid Judicial Activism. *International and Comparative Law Quarterly*, *53*, 861–895. doi:10.1093/iclq/53.4.861
- Bhala, R. (1999). Precedent Setters: De Facto Stare Decisis in WTO Adjudication (Part Two of a Trilogy), The. *Journal of Transnationall Law & Policy*, 9(1), 1–151.
- Bhala, R. (2001). Power of the Past: Towards De Jure Stare Decisis in WTO Adjudication (Part Three of a Trilogy), The. *George Washington International Law Review*, 33, 873–978.
- Blonigen, B. A., & Bown, C. P. (2001). *Antidumping and Retaliation Threats* (NBER Working Paper No. 8576) (pp. 1–35). Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research. Retrieved from http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0022199602000557
- Bown, C. P. (2002). The Economics of Trade Disputes, The GATT's Article XXIII, and the WTO's Dispute Settlement Understanding. *Economics & Politics*, *14*(3), 283–323.
- Bown, C. P. (2004a). Developing Countries as Plaintiffs and Defendants in GATT/WTO Trade Disputes. *The World Economy*, 27(1), 59–80.
- Bown, C. P. (2004b). On the Economic Success of GATT/WTO dispute settlement. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 86(3), 811–823.
- Bown, C. P. (2004c). Trade disputes and the implementation of protection under the GATT: an empirical assessment. *Journal of International Economics*, 62(2), 263–294. doi:10.1016/S0022-1996(03)00053-9
- Bown, C. P. (2005a). Participation in WTO Dispute Settlment: Complainants, Interested

- Parties, and Free Riders. World Bank Economic Review, 19(2), 287–310. doi:10.1093/wber/lhi009
- Bown, C. P. (2005b). Trade Remedies and World Trade Organization Dispute Settlement: Why Are So Few Challenged? *The Journal of Legal Studies*, *34*(2), 515–555. doi:10.1086/429849
- Bronkers, M. C. E. J. (1999). Better Rules for a New Millennium: A Warning Against Undemocratic Developments in the WTO. *Journal of International Economic Law*, 2(4), 547–566. doi:10.1093/jiel/2.4.547
- Busch, M. L. (2000). Democracy, Consultation, and the Paneling of Disputes under GATT. *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 44(4), 425–446. doi:10.1177/0022002700044004002
- Busch, M. L. (2007). Overlapping Institutions, Forum Shopping, and Dispute Settlement in International Trade. *International Organization*, 61(4), 735–761. doi:10.1017/S0020818307070257
- Busch, M. L., & Pelc, K. J. (2010). The Politics of Judicial Economy at the World Trade Organization. *International Organization*, *64*, 257–279. doi:10.1017/S0020818310000020
- Busch, M. L., & Reinhardt, E. (2000). Bargaining in the Shadow of the Law: Early Settlement in GATT/WTO Disputes. *Fordham International Law Journal*, 24(1), 158–172.
- Busch, M. L., & Reinhardt, E. (2002). Testing International Trade Law: Empirical Studies of GATT/WTO Dispute Settlement. In D. L. M. Kennedy & J. D. Southwick (Eds.), *The Political Economy of International Trade Law- Essays in Honor of Robert Hudec* (pp. 475–481). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Busch, M. L., & Reinhardt, E. (2006). Three's A Crowd: Third Parties and WTO Dispute Settlement. *World Politics*, 58(3), 446–477. doi:10.1353/wp.2007.0000
- Busch, M. L., Reinhardt, E., & Shaffer, G. (2009). Does legal capacity matter? A survey of WTO Members. *World Trade Review*, 8(4), 559–577. doi:10.1017/S1474745609990085
- Carmody, C. C. (2011). The Duty to Settle in WTO Dispute Settlment. *Asian Journal of WTO & International Health Law and Policy*, 6(1), 169–200.
- Ceva, E., & Fracasso, A. (2010). Seeking mutual understanding: a discourse-theoretical analysis of the WTO Dispute Settlement System. *World Trade Review*, 9(3), 457–485. doi:10.1017/S1474745610000285
- Champ, P., & Attaran, A. (2002). Patent rights and local working under the WTO TRIPS Agreement: An analysis of the US-Brazil Patent Dispute. *Yale Journal of International Law*, 27, 365–393.
- Dam, K. W. (1970). *The GATT: Law and International Economic Organization*. Chicago: Chicago University Press.
- Davis, C. (2006a). The Politics of Forum Choice for Trade Disputes: Evidence from US Trade Policy (pp. 1–42). Presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Political Science Association, Philadelphia: Princeton University. Retrieved from http://www.princeton.edu/~cldavis/files/davis_2006APSA.pdf
- Davis, C. L. (2006b). Do WTO Rules Create a Level Playing Field: Lessons from the experience of Peru and Vietnam. In J. S. Odell (Ed.), *Negotiating Trade: developing countries in the WTO and NAFTA* (pp. 219–256). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Davis, C. L., & Bermeo, S. B. (2009). Who Files? Developing Country Participation in GATT/WTO Adjudication. *The Journal of Politics*, 71(3), 1033–1049. doi:10.1017/S0022381609090860

- Delgado, R., Dunn, C., Brown, P., & Lee, H. (1985). Fairness and Formality: Minimizing the Risk of Prejudice in Alternative Dispute Resolution. *Wisconson Law Review*, 1369, 1359–1404.
- Dispute Settlement: The Disputes, Chronological List of Disputes Cases. (2013). *The World Trade Organization*. Retrieved from http://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/dispu_e/dispu_status_e.htm
- Donmoyer, R. (2000). Generalizability and the Single Case Study. In R. Gomm, M. Hammersley, & P. Foster (Eds.), *Case Study Method*. London: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Esserman, S., & Howse, R. (2003). The WTO on Trial. Foreign Affairs, 82(1), 130–140.
- Farber, D. A. (2002). The Case Against Clarity. In D. L. M. Kennedy & J. D. Southwick (Eds.), *The Political Economy of International Trade Law- Essays in Honor of Robert Hudec* (pp. 575–582). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. Fischer-
- Lescano, A., & Teubner, G. (2004). Regime-Collisions: The Vain Search for Legal Unity in the Fragmentation of Global Law. *Michigan Journal of International Law*, 25(4), 999–1046.
- Fiss, O. M. (1984). Against Settlement. Yale Law Journal, 93, 1073-1090.
- Flyvbjerg, B. (2006). Five Misunderstandings About Case-Study Research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 12(2), 219–245. doi:10.1177/1077800405284363
- Francois, J., Horn, H., & Kaunitz, N. (2010). *Trading Profiles and Developing Country Participation in the WTO Dispute Settlement System* (Issue Paper No. No. 6) (pp. 1–58). Geneva: International Centre for Trade and Sustainable Development. Retrieved from http://dspace.cigilibrary.org/jspui/handle/123456789/28453
- Fukunaga, Y. (2008). Enforcing TRIPS: Challenges of Adjudicating Minimum Standards Agreements. *Berkeley Technology Law Journal*, 23, 867–931.
- George, A. L., & Bennett, A. (2005). *Case Studies and Theory Development in the Social Sciences*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Gerhart, P. M., & Kella, A. S. (2005). Power and Preferences: Developing Countries and the Role of the WTO Appellate Body. *North Carolina Journal of International Law and Commercial Regulation*, *30*, 515–576.
- Ginsburg, T. (2005). International Judicial Lawmaking. *University of Illinois College of Law, Law and Economics Working Papers*, 26, 1–55.
- Goldstein, J., & Steinberg, R. (2006). Delegation to the WTO: Liberalizing Through Legislation or Litigation? In *Workshop on Delegating Sovereignty: Constitutional and Political Perspectives* (pp. 1–14). Duke University. Retrieved from http://law.duke.edu/publiclaw/pdf/workshop06sp/goldsteinsteinberg.pdf
- Greenwald, J. (2003). WTO Dispute Settlement: An Exercise in Trade Law Legislation? *Journal of International Economic Law*, 6(1), 113–124. doi:10.1093/jiel/6.1.113
- Greenwald, J. D., & Fox, L. F. (2007). WTO's Emphasis on Adjudicated Dispute Settlement May Be More Drag than Lift, The. *Arizona Journal of International and Comparative Law*, 24(1), 133–140.
- Guzman, A., & Simmons, B. A. (2002). To Settle or Empanel? An Empirical Analysis of Litigation and Settlement at the World Trade Organization. *The Journal of Legal Studies*, 31(S1), S205–S235. doi:10.1086/340407
- Guzman, A. T., & Simmons, B. A. (2005). Power Plays and Capacity Constraints: The Selection of Defendants in World Trade Organization Disputes. *The Journal of Legal Studies*, *34*(2), 557–598. doi:10.1086/430767
- Halewood, M. (1997). Regulating patent holders: local working requirements and compulsory licences at international law. *Osgoode Hall Law Journal*, *35*, 243–287.
- Hoekman, B. M., & Mavroidis, P. C. (2000). WTO dispute settlement, transparency and

- surveillance. The World Economy, 23(4), 527-542. doi:10.1111/1467-9701.00288
- Holmes, P., Rollo, J., & Young, A. R. (2003). *Emerging trends in WTO dispute settlement: Back to the GATT?* Washington, DC: World Bank. Retrieved from http://books.google.com/books?hl=en&lr=&id=r3pKzzQ4FmMC&oi=fnd&pg=PA 1&dq=%22revisions+to+the+dispute+settlement+system+negotiated+in+the+Urug uay+Round%22+%22early+days+of+the+World+Trade+Organisation%E2%80%9 9s+(WTO)+dispute+settlement%22+%22the+academic+community+to+analyse+t he+data+for+emerging+trends.+This+paper%22+&ots=a7BHGF8san&sig=ntKTL HVIjmmKYaLbydd7Fw9AR_w
- Horlick, G., & Coleman, J. (2007). Compliance Problems of the WTO, The. *Arizona Journal of International and Comparative Law*, 24(1), 141–147.
- Horlick, G. N. (1998). Consultation Phase of WTO Dispute Resolution: A Private Practitioner's View, The. *The International Lawyer*, *32*(3), 685–693.
- Horn, H., & Mavroidis, P. C. (2003). *Which WTO Provisions are Invoked by and Against Developing Countries?* (pp. 1–26). New Haven: Yale Center for the Study of Globalization. Retrieved from http://www.ycsg.yale.edu/documents/taskForce_trade_papers.html
- Horn, H., & Mavroidis, P. C. (2006). *A Survey of the Literature on the WTO Dispute Settlement System* (No. IFN Working Paper No. 684) (pp. 1–41). Stockholm: Research Institute of Industrial Economics. Retrieved from http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=984564
- Horn, H., Mavroidis, P. C., & Nordstrom, H. (1999). *Is the Use of the WTO Dispute Settlement System Biased?* (Discussion Paper No. 2340) (pp. 1–29). London: Centre for Economic Policy Research. Retrieved from www.cepr.org/pubs/dps/DPS2340.asp
- Hudec, R. E. (2002). Review article: Free trade, sovereignty, democracy: the future of the World Trade Organization. *World Trade Review*, 1(02), 211–222. doi:10.1017/S1474745602001167
- Jackson, J. H. (1997). *The World Trading System: Law and Policy of International Economic Relations* (2nd ed.). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Jackson, J. H. (2004). International Law Status of WTO Dispute Settlement Reports: Obligation to Comply or Option to "But Out"? *The American Journal of International Law*, 98, 109–125.
- Johns, L., & Pelc, K. J. (2012). Overcrowding in WTO Dispute Settlement: Why Don't More Countries Join as Third Parties? Retrieved from https://www.princeton.edu/politics/about/file-repository/public/Leslie_Johns_Paper.pdf
- Kaul, I., Grunberg, I., & Stern, M. (1999). Global Public Goods: International Cooperation in the 21st Century. In *The Political Economy of International Cooperation* (pp. 1–15). Oxford University Press. Retrieved from www.oxfordscholarship.com
- Lacarte-Muro, J., & Gappah, P. (2000). Developing Countries and the WTO Legal and Dispute Settlement System: A View From the Bench. *Journal of International Economic Law*, *3*(3), 395–401.
- Leitner, K., & Lester, S. (2006). WTO Dispute Settlement from 1995 to 2005 A Statistical Analysis. *Journal of International Economic Law*, 9(1), 219–231. doi:10.1093/jiel/jgl001
- Lester, S., Mercurio, B., & Davies, A. (2012). World Trade Law: Text, Materials, and Commentary (2nd ed.). Oxford: Hart Publishing.
- Luban, D. (1995). Settlements and the Erosion of the Public Realm. *The Georgetown Law Journal*, 83, 2619–2662.

- Mattoo, A., & Subramanian, A. (2004). The WTO and the poorest countries: the stark reality. *World Trade Review*, *3*(3), 385–407. doi:10.1017/S1474745604001958
- Mavroidis, P. (2000). Remedies in the WTO Legal System: Between a Rock and a Hard Place. *European Journal of International Law*, 11(4), 763–813.
- McMunigal, K. C. (1990). The Costs of Settlement: The Impact of Scarcity of Adjudication on Litigating Lawyers. *UCLA Law Review*, *37*, 833–881.
- Menkel-Meadow, C. (1995). Whose Dispute Is It Anyway: A Philosophical and Democratic Defense of Settlement (In Some Cases). *The Georgetown Law Journal*, 83, 2663–2696.
- Mercurio, B., & Tyagi, M. (2010). Treaty Interpretation in WTO Dispute Settlement: The Outstanding Question of the Legality of Local Working Requirements. *Minnesota Journal of International Law*, 19(2), 275–326.
- Moffitt, M. (2009). Three Things To Be Against (Settlement Not Included). *Fordham Law Review*, 78(3), 1203–1245.
- Nowak, K. J. (2005). Staying Within the Negotiated Framework: Abiding by the Non-Discrimination Clause in TRIPS Article 27. *Michigan Journal of International Law*, 26, 899–945.
- Park, Y. D., & Panizzon, M. (2002). WTO Dispute Settlement 1995-2001: A Statistical Analysis. *Journal of International Economic Law*, 5(1), 221–244. doi:10.1093/jiel/5.1.221
- Parlin, C. C. (2000). Operation of Consultations, Deterrence, and Mediation. *Law and Policy in International Business*, 31(3), 556–572.
- Pauwelyn, J. (2003). The Limits of Litigation: 'Americanization' and Negotiation in the Settlement of WTO Disputes. *Ohio State Journal on Dispute Resolution*, 19(1), 121–140.
- Pauwelyn, J. (2006). How Strongly Should We Protect and Enforce International Law? (pp. 1–65). Presented at the University of Chicago Law School Workshop. Retrieved from http://scholarship.law.duke.edu/faculty_scholarship/1309
- Porges, A. (2002). Step by Step to an International Trade Court. In D. L. M. Kennedy & J. D. Southwick (Eds.), *The Political Economy of International Trade Law- Essays in Honor of Robert Hudec* (pp. 528–536). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Ragosta, J., Joneja, N., & Zeldovich, M. (2003). WTO Dispute Settlement: The System Is Flawed and Must Be Fixed. *The International Lawyer*, *37*(3), 697–752.
- Raustiala, K. (2000). Sovereignty and Multilateralism. *Chicago Journal of International Law*, 1(2), 401–419.
- Reynolds, K. M. (2009). Why Are So Many WTO Disputes Abandoned? In J. C. Hartigan (Ed.), *Trade Disputes and the Dispute Settlement Understanding of the WTO: An Interdisciplinary Assesment* (Vols. 1-12, Vol. 6, pp. 191–211). Retrieved from http://www.emeraldinsight.com/journals.htm?articleid=1775983&show=abstract
- Santos, A. (2012). Carving Out Policy Autonomy for Developing Countries in the World Trade Organization: The Experience of Brazil and Mexico. *Virginia Journal of International Law*, 52(3), 551–632.
- Schuchhardt, C. (2005). Consultations. In P. F. Macrory, A. E. Appelton, & M. G. Plummer (Eds.), *The World Trade Organization: Legal, Economic and Political Analysis* (Vol. 1, pp. 1197–1231). New York: Springer.
- Schwartz, W. F., & Sykes, A. O. (2002). The Economic Structure of Renegotiation and Dispute Resolution in the World Trade Organization. *The Journal of Legal Studies*, 31(S1), S179–S204. doi:10.1086/340406
- Sell, S. K. (2002). Post-TRIPS Developments: The Tension Between Commercial and Social Agendas in the Context of Intellectual Property. *Florida Journal of*

- International Law, 14, 193–216.
- Shadlen, K. C. (2004). Patents and Pills, Power and Procedure: the North-South Politics of Public Health in the WTO. *Studies in Comparative International Development*, 39(3), 76–108.
- Shadlen, K. C. (2009). Resources, Rules and International Political Economy: The Politics of Development in the WTO (Working Paper No. No. 09-01) (pp. 1–22). Retrieved from
- http://works.bepress.com/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1005&context=ken_shadlen
- Shadlen, K. (2013, March 21). *Contrasting Trajectories of Change in Global* "*Development*" *Regimes*. DV424 Lecture, London School of Economics.
- Shaffer, G. (2006). The challenges of WTO law: strategies for developing country adaptation. *World Trade Review*, *5*(2), 177–198. doi:10.1017/S1474745606002746
- Shaffer, G., Ratton Sanchez, M., & Rosenberg, B. (2008). The Trials of Winning at the WTO: What Lies Behind Brazil's Success. *Cornell International Law Journal*, 41, 381–501.
- Shanker, D. (2006). Access to Medicines, Paragraph 6 of the Doha Declaration on Public Health, and Developing Countries in International Treaty Negotiations. *Indian Journal of Law and Technology*, 2, 8–64.
- Stasavage, D. (2004). Open-Door or Closed-Door? Transparency in Domestic and International Bargaining. *International Organization*, *58*, 667–703. doi:10.1017/S0020818304040214
- Steger, D. P. (2002a). Book Review- Free Trade, Soveriegnty, Democracy: The Future of the World Trade Organization. *Journal of International Economic Law*, 5(2), 565–570
- Steger, D. P. (2002b). The Appellate Body and Its Contribution to WTO Dispute Settlment. In D. L. M. Kennedy & J. D. Southwick (Eds.), *The Political Economy of International Trade Law- Essays in Honor of Robert Hudec* (pp. 482–495). Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Steinbach, A. (2009). The DSU Interim Review-Need for its Elimination or Extension to the Appellate Body Stage? *Journal of International Economic Law*, 12(2), 417–434. doi:10.1093/jiel/jgp018
- Steinberg, R. H. (2002). In the Shadow of Law or Power? Consensus-Based Bargaining and Outcomes in the GATT/WTO. *International Organization*, *56*(2), 339–374.
- Steinberg, R. H. (2004). Judicial Lawmaking at the WTO: Discursive, Constitutional, and Political Constraints. *The American Journal of International Law*, 98(2), 247–275.
- US DSU Proposal Recieves Mixed Reactions. (2002). *Bridges Weekly Trade News Digest*, 6(43). Retrieved from http://ictsd.org/i/news/bridgesweekly/6793/
- Wade, R. H. (2003). What strategies are viable for developing countries today? The World Trade Organization and the shrinking of "development space." *Review of International Political Economy*, *10*(4), 621–644. doi:10.1080/09692290310001601902
- Weiler, J. H. H. (2001). The Rule of Lawyers and the Ethos of Diplomats: Reflections on the Internal and External Legitimacy of WTO Dispute Settlement. *Journal of World Trade*, *35*(2), 191–207.
- Wethington, O. L. (2000). Commentary on the Consultation Mechanism Under the WTO Dispute Settlement Understanding During Its First Five Years. *Law and Policy in International Business*, 31(3), 583–590.
- Yeazell, S. C. (1994). The Misunderstood Consequences of Modern Civil Process. *Wisconsin Law Review*, 631.

Case Law

- Appellate Body Report, *India- Patent Protection for Pharmaceutical and Agricultural Chemical Products*, WT/DS50/AB/5 (19 December 1997).
- Appellate Body Report, *Mexico- Anti-Dumping Investigation of High Fructose Corn Syrup* (*HFCS*) from the United States- Recourse to Article 21.5 of the DSU by the United States, WT/DS132/AB/RW (21 November 2001).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Brazil-Measures Affecting Patent Protection*, WT/DS199/4 (19 July 2001).
- Panel Report, Canada- Patent Protection of Pharmaceutical Products, WT/DS144/R, (17 March 2000).
- Request for Consultations by Brazil, *United States- US Patents Code*, WT/DS224/1 (7 February 2001).
- Request for Consultations by the United States, *Brazil-Measures Affecting Patent Protection*, WT/DS199/1 (8 June 2000).

Legal Texts

- Agreement Establishing the Advisory Centre on WTO Law, December 1 1999. [ACWL]. Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights, Apr. 15, 1994, Marrakesh Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization, Annex 1C, THE LEGAL TEXTS: THE RESULTS OF THE URUGUAY ROUND OF MULTILATERAL TRADE NEGOTIATIONS 320 (1999), 1869 U.N.T.S. 299, 33 I.L.M. 1197 (1994) [TRIPS].
- General Agreement on Trade in Services, Apr. 15, 1994, Marrakesh Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization, Annex 1B, THE LEGAL TEXTS: THE RESULTS OF THE URUGUAY ROUND OF MULTILATERAL TRADE NEGOTIATIONS 284 (1999), 1869 U.N.T.S. 183, 33 I.L.M. 1167 (1994) [GATS].
- Marrakesh Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization, Apr. 15, 1994, THE LEGAL TEXTS: THE RESULTS OF THE URUGUAY ROUND OF MULTILATERAL TRADE NEGOTIATIONS 4 (1999), 1867 U.N.T.S. 154, 33 I.L.M. 1144 (1994) [WTO Agreement].
- Understanding on Rules and Procedures Governing the Settlement of Disputes, Marrakesh Agreement Establishing the World Trade Organization, Annex 2, THE LEGAL TEXTS: THE RESULTS OF THE URUGUAY ROUND OF MULTILATERAL TRADE NEGOTIATIONS 354 (1999), 1869 U.N.T.S. 401, 33 I.L.M. 1226 (1994) [DSU].

page 39 of 45

Appendix I Acronyms, Abbreviations, Key Terms

AB Appellate Body

ACWL Advisory Centre on WTO Law

Annex 1A The multilateral agreements on trade in goods
Annex 1B General Agreement on Trade in Services (GATS)

Annex 1C Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights

(TRIPS)

CL compulsory license

Doha Declaration The Doha Declaration on the TRIPS Agreement and Public Health

DSM Dispute Settlement Mechanism
DSU Dispute Settlement Understanding

EC European Communities

GATS General Agreement on Trade in Services
GATT General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade

MAS Mutually Agreed Solution
policy space A range of permissible policies
stare decisis The legal principle of precedent
TPRM Trade Policy Review Mechanism

TRIMS Agreement on Trade-Related Investment Measures

TRIPS Agreement on Trade-Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights

WTO World Trade Organization

Appendix II Sources for the Data in Tables 1-5

- Communication from Chile, *European Communities- Definitive Safeguard Measure on Salmon*, WT/DS326/4 (17 May 2005).
- Communication from Chile, *Mexico- Measures Affecting the Import of Matches*, WT/DS232/3 (5 February 2004).
- Communication from Chile, *Peru- Tax Treatment on Certain imported Products*, WT/DS255/5 (2 October 2002).
- Communication from Chile, *Peru-Taxes on Cigarettes*, WT/DS227/3 (19 July 2001).
- Communication from China and Mexico, *China- Certain Measures Granting Refunds, Reductions or Exemptions from Taxes and Other Payments*, WT/DS359/14 (13 February 2008).
- Communication from China and the United States, *China- Certain Measures Granting Refunds, Reductions or Exemptions from Taxes and Other Payments*, WT/DS358/14 (4 January 2008).
- Communication from Guatemala, *Mexico- Certain Pricing Measures for Customs Valuation and Other Purposes*, WT/DS298/2 (1 September 2005).
- Communication from India, *United States- Measures Affecting Imports of Women's and Girl's Wool Coats*, WT/DS32/2 (30 April 1996).
- Communication from Indonesia, *South Africa- Anti-Dumping Measures on Uncoated Woodfree Paper*, WT/DS374/2 (25 November 2008).
- Communication from Korea, *United States- Imposition of Antidumping Duties on Imports of Colour Television Receivers from Korea*, WT/DS89/9 (18 September 1998).
- Communication from Malaysia, *Malaysia- Prohibition of Imports of Ployethylene and Polypropylene*, WT/DS1/3 (31 March 1995).
- Communication from Nicaragua, *Mexico- Certain Measures Preventing the Importation of Black Beans from Nicaragua*, WT/DS284/4 (11 March 2004).
- Communication from the United States, *European Communities- Duties on imports of Grains*, WT/DS13/8 (2 May 1997).
- Dispute Settlement: Dispute DS106 Australia- Subsidies Provided to Producers and Exporters of Automotive Leather. (2010). *The World Trade Organization*. Retrieved from http://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/dispu_e/cases_e/ds106_e.htm
- Dispute Settlement: Dispute DS117 Canada- Measures Affecting Film Distribution Services. (2010). *The World Trade Organization*. Retrieved from http://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/dispu_e/cases_e/ds117_e.htm
- Dispute Settlement: Dispute DS181 Colombia- Safeguard Measure on Imports of Plain Polyester Filaments from Thailand. (2010). *The World Trade Organization*. Retrieved from http://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/dispu_e/cases_e/ds181_e.htm
- Dispute Settlement: Dispute DS228 Chile- Safeguard Measures on Sugar. (2010). *The World Trade Organization*. Retrieved
 - from http://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/dispu_e/cases_e/ds228_e.htm
- Dispute Settlement: Dispute DS39 United states- Tariff Increases on Products from the European Communities. (2010). *The World Trade Organization*. Retrieved from http://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/dispu_e/cases_e/ds39_e.htm
- Dispute Settlement: Dispute DS6 United States- Imposition of Import Duties on Automobiles from Japan Sections 301 and 304 of the Trade Act of 1974. (2010). *The World Trade Organization*. Retrieved
 - from http://www.wto.org/english/tratop e/dispu e/cases e/ds6 e.htm

- Dispute Settlement: The Disputes, Chronological List of Disputes Cases. (2013). *The World Trade Organization*. Retrieved
 - from http://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/dispu_e/dispu_status_e.htm
- Dispute Settlement: The Disputes, Disputes by agreement (as cited in consultations). (2013). *The World Trade Organization*. Retrieved
 - from http://www.wto.org/english/tratop_e/dispu_e/dispu_agreements_index_e.htm
- Joint Communication from China and Canada, *China- Measures Affecting Financial Information Services and Foreign Financial Information Suppliers*, WT/DS378/3 (9 December 2008).
- Joint Communication from China and the European Communities, *China- Measures Affecting Financial Information Services and Foreign Financial Information Suppliers*, WT/DS372/4 (9 December 2008).
- Joint Communication from China and the United States, *China- Measures Affecting Financial Information Services and Foreign Financial Information Suppliers*, WT/DS373/4 (9 December 2008).
- Joint Communication from the European Union and Chile, *Chile- Measures Affecting the Transit and Importation of Swordfish*, WT/DS193/4 (3 June 2010).
- Lapse of Authority for the Establishment of a Panel, *Argentina- Measures Affecting Textiles and Clothing*, WT/DS77/6 (24 May 2002).
- Lapse of Authority for the Establishment of a Panel, *United States- Cuban Liberty and Democratic Solidarity Act*, WT/DS38/6 (24 April 1998).
- Notification Concerning Consultations, Venezuela- Anti-Dumping Investigation in Respect of Imports of Certain Oil Country Tubular Goods (OCTG), WT/DS23/3 (26 May 1997).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution Addendum Revision, *Korea- Measures Concerning the Shelf-Life of Products*, WT/DS5/5/Add.1/Rev.1 (22 April 1996).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution Addendum, *India-Quantitative Restrictions on Imports of Agricultural, Textiles, and Industrial Products*, WT/DS96/8/Add.1 (14 January 1999).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution Addendum, *India-Quantitative Restrictions on Imports of Agricultural, Textiles, and Industrial Products*, WT/DS90/2/Add.1; WT/DS91/2/Add.1; WT/DS92/2/Add.1; WT/DS93/2/Add.1; WT/DS94/2/Add.1 and WT/DS96/2/Add.1 (14 January 1999).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution Addendum, *Korea-Measures Concerning the Shelf-Life of Products*, WT/DS5/5/Add.1 (24 November 1995).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution Addendum, *Korea-Measures Concerning the Shelf-Life of Products*, WT/DS5/5/Add.2 (22 April 1996).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution Addendum, *Korea-Measures Concerning the Shelf-Life of Products*, WT/DS5/5/Add.3 (22 April 1996).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution Addendum, *Korea-Measures Concerning the Shelf-Life of Products*, WT/DS5/5/Add.4 (19 July 1996).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution Addendum, *Korea-Measures Concerning the Shelf-Life of Products*, WT/DS5/5/Add.5 (20 September 1996).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution Addendum, *United States- Provisional Anti-Dumping Measure on Imports of Certain Softwood Lumber from Canada*, WT/DS247/2/Add.1 (9 March 2007).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution Corrigendum, *India-Quantitative Restrictions on Imports of Agricultural, Textiles, and Industrial Products*, WT/DS96/8/Corr.1 (28 September 1998).

- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution Corrigendum, *India-Quantitative Restrictions on Imports of Agricultural, Textiles, and Industrial Products*, WT/DS94/9/Corr.1 (18 September 1998).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution Corrigendum, *India-Quantitative Restrictions on Imports of Agricultural, Textiles, and Industrial Products*, WT/DS92/8/Corr.1 (25 September 1998).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution Corrigendum, *India-Quantitative Restrictions on Imports of Agricultural, Textiles, and Industrial Products*, WT/DS91/8/Corr.1 (17 August 1998).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution Corrigendum, *Korea- Measures Concerning the Shelf-Life of Products*, WT/DS5/5/Corr.1 (14 August 1995).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, Argentina- Transitional Safeguard Measures on Certain Imports of Woven Fabrics of Cotton and Cotton Mixtures Originating in Brazil, WT/DS190/2 (30 June 2000).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Australia- Anti-Dumping Measures on Imports of Coated Woodfree Paper Sheets*, WT/DS119/4 (25 May 1998).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Australia- Measures Affecting the Importation of Salmonids*, WT/DS21/10 (1 November 2000).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Australia- Quarantine Regime for Imports*, WT/DS287/8 (13 March 2007).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Belgium- Administration of Measures establishing Customs Duties for Rice*, WT/DS210/6 (2 January 2002).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Brazil-Measures Affecting Patent Protection*, WT/DS199/4 (19 July 2001).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Canada-Tax Exemptions and Reductions for Beer and Wine*, WT/DS354/2 (23 December 2008).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *China- Value-Added Tax on Integrated Circuits*, WT/DS309/8 (6 October 2005).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Colombia- Customs Measures on Importation of Certain Goods from Panama*, WT/DS348/10 (7 December 2006).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Croatia- Measure Affecting Imports of Live Animals and Meat Products*, WT/DS297/2 (6 February 2009).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Denmark-Measures Affecting the Enforcement of Intellectual Property Rights*, WT/DS83/2 (13 June 2001).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Egypt- Anti-Dumping Duties on Matches from Pakistan*, WT/DS327/3 (29 March 2006).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Egypt- Measures Affecting Imports of Textile and Apparel Products*, WT/DS305/4 (25 May 2005).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, European Communities Regime for the Importation, Sale and Distribution of Bananas (DS16; DS27; DS105; DS158); European Communities Regime for the Importation of Bananas (DS361; DS364); European Communities The ACP-EC Partnership Agreement Recourse to Arbitration pursuant to the Decision of 14 November (WT/L/616); European Communities The ACP-EC Partnership Agreement Second Recourse to Arbitration pursuant to the Decision of 14 November 2001 (WT/L/625), WT/DS158/4 (12 November 2012).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *European Communities- Anti-Dumping Duties on Certain Flat Rolled Iron or Non-Alloy Steel Products from India*, WT/DS313/2 (27 October 2004).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *European Communities- Measures Affecting the Approval and Marketing of Biotech Products*, WT/DS293/41 (23 March 2010).

- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *European Communities- Measures Affecting the Approval and Marketing of Biotech Products*, WT/DS292/40 (17 July 2009).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *European Communities- Measures Affecting Butter Products*, WT/DS/72/7 (18 November 1999).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *European Communities-Trade Description of Scallops*, WT/DS12/12 and WT/DS14/11 (19 July 1996).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *European Communities-Trade Description of Scallops*, WT/DS7/12 (19 July 1996).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, European Communities- Enforcement of Intellectual Property Rights for Motion Pictures and Television Programs, WT/DS124/2 (26 March 2001).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Greece-Enforcement of Intellectual Property Rights for Motion Pictures and Television Programs*, WT/DS125/2 (26 March 2001).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *India- Anti-Dumping Measures on Batteries from Bangladesh*, WT/DS306/3 (23 February 2006).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *India-Quantitative Restrictions on Imports of Agricultural, Textiles, and Industrial Products*, WT/DS96/8 (6 May 1998).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *India-Quantitative Restrictions on Imports of Agricultural, Textiles, and Industrial Products*, WT/DS94/9 (23 March 1998).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *India-Quantitative Restrictions on Imports of Agricultural, Textiles, and Industrial Products*, WT/DS93/8 (11 December 1998).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *India-Quantitative Restrictions on Imports of Agricultural, Textiles, and Industrial Products*, WT/DS92/8 (3 April 1998).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *India-Quantitative Restrictions on Imports of Agricultural, Textiles, and Industrial Products*, WT/DS91/8 (23 April 1998).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Ireland-Measures Affecting the Grant of Copyright and Neighboring Rights; European Communities-Measures Affecting the Grant of Copyright and Neighboring Rights*, WT/DS82/3 and WT/DS115/3 (13 September 2002).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Japan-Import Quotas on Dried Laver and Seasoned Laver*, WT/DS323/5 (27 January 2006).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Japan-Measures Concerning Sounds Recordings*, WT/DS42/4 (17 November 1997).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Japan-Measures Concerning Sound Recordings*, WT/DS28/4 (5 February 1997).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Korea- Laws Regulations and Practices in the Telecommunications Sector*, WT/DS40/2 (29 October 1997).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Korea- Measures Concerning Bottled Water*, WT/DS20/6 (6 May 1996).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Korea- Measures Concerning the Shelf-Life of Products*, WT/DS5/5 (31 July 1995).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Korea-Measures Affecting the Importation of Bovine Meat and Meat Products from Canada*, WT/DS391/9 (12 June 2012).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Pakistan- Patent Protection for pharmaceutical* and Agricultural Products, WT/DS36/4 (7 March 1997).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Panama-Tariff Classification on Certain Milk Products*, WT/DS329/2 (6 October 2005).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Philippines- Measures Affecting Pork and Poultry*, WT/DS74/5 and WT/DS102/6 (13 March 1998).

- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Philippines- Measures Affecting Pork and Poultry*, WT/DS74/5 (13 March 1998).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Poland-Import Regime for Automobiles*, WT/DS19/2 (11 September 1996).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Portugal- Patent Protection Under the Industrial Property Act*, WT/DS37/2 (8 October 1996).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Slovakia- Safeguard Measure on Imports of Sugar*, WT/DS235/2 (16 January 2002).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Turkey- Certain Import Procedures for Fresh Fruit*, WT/DS237/4 (29 November 2002).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Turkey-Taxation on Foreign Film Revenues*, WT/DS43/3 (24 July 1997).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *United States- Anti-Dumping Measures on Cement from Mexico*, WT/DS281/8 (21 May 2007).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *United States- Equalizing Excise Tax Imposed by Florida on Processed Orange and Grapefruit Products*, WT/DS250/3 (2 June 2004).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *United States- Final Anti-Dumping Measures on Stainless Steel from Mexico*, WT/DS344/26 (10 April 2013).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *United States- measures Affecting Textiles and Apparel*, WT/DS151/10 (31 July 2000).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *United States- Measures Affecting Textile and Apparel Products*, WT/DS85/9 (25 February 1998).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *United States- Provisional Anti-Dumping Measure on Imports of Certain Softwood Lumber from Canada*, WT/DS247/2 (16 November 2006).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *United States- Reviews of Countervailing Duty on Softwood Lumber from Canada*, WT/DS311/2 (16 November 2006).
- Notification of a Mutually Agreed Solution, *Uruguay- Tax Treatment on Certain Products*, WT/DS261/7 (14 January 2004).
- Notification of a Mutually Agrees Solution, *Romania- Measures on Minimum Import Prices*, WT/DS198/2 (2 October 2001).
- Notification of Mutually Agreed Solution According to the Conditions Set Forth in the Agreement, Argentina- Patent Protection for Pharmaceuticals and Test Data Protection for Agricultural Chemicals; Argentina- Certain Measures of the Protection of Patents and Test Data, WT/DS171/3 and WT/DS196/4 (20 June 2002).
- Notification of Mutually Agreed Solution, *Sweden-Measures Affecting the Enforcement of Intellectual Property Rights*, WT/DS86/2 (11 December 1998).
- Regime for the Importation of Bananas Initiated by Colombia and Panama, *European Communities- Regime for the Importation of Bananas*, WT/DS361/2 and WT/DS364/2 (22 December 2009).
- Request for Consultations by the United States, *Argentina- Certain Measures on the Protection of Patents and Test Data*, WT/196/1 (6 June 2000).
- Request for Consultations by the United States, *Argentina- Patent Protection for Pharmaceuticals and Test Data for Agricultural Chemicals*, WT/171/1 (10 May 1999).
- Request for Consultations by the United States, *Brazil- Measures Affecting Patent Protection*, WT/DS199/1 (8 June 2000).
- Request for Consultations by the United States, *Denmark- Measures Affecting the Enforcement of Intellectual Property Rights*, WT/DS83/1 (21 May 1997).
- Request for Consultations by the United States, European Communities- Enforcement of Intellectual Property Rights for Motion Pictures and Television Programs, WT/DS124/1 (7 May 1998).

- Request for Consultations by the United States, *European Communities- Measures Affecting the Grant of Copyright and Neighboring Rights* WT/DS115/1 (12 January 1998).
- Request for Consultations by the United States, *Greece- Enforcement of Intellectual Property Rights for Motion Pictures and Television Programs*, WT/DS125/1 (7 May 1998).
- Request for Consultations by the United States, *Ireland- Measures Affecting the Grant of Copyright and Neighboring Rights* WT/DS82/1 (22 May 1997).
- Request for Consultations by the United States, *Japan-Measures Concerning Sound Recordings*, WT/DS28/1 (14 February 1996).
- Request for Consultations by the United States, *Pakistan-Patent Protection for Pharmaceutical and Agricultural Chemical Products*, WT/DS36/1 (6 May 1996).
- Request for Consultations by the United States, *Portugal-Patent Protection Under the Industrial Property Act*, WT/DS37/1 (6 May 1996).
- Request for Consultations by the United States, *Sweden-Measures Affecting the Enforcement of Intellectual Property Rights*, WT/DS86/1 (2 June 1997).
- Request for Consultations from the European Communities, *Japan-Measures Concerning Sound Recordings*, WT/DS42/1 (4 June 1996).
- Request for Consultations, *China- Measures Affecting Financial Information Services and Foreign Financial Information Suppliers*, WT/DS372/1 (5 March 2008).
- Withdrawal of the Request for the Establishment of a Panel by Hungary, *Romania-Import Prohibition on Wheat and Wheat Flour*, WT/DS240/3 (7 January 2002).